

## UNIVERSITIES AND UNIVERSITY COLLEGES ACT 1971

# THE CONSTITUTION OF UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

### **UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA**

(ACADEMIC MATTERS FOR UNDERGRADUATES)

RULES 2014



#### Contents

		PAGES
PAR	T A – PRELIMINARY	
1.	Short Title, Application and Commenment Date	1
2.	Interpretation	2
	T B – REGISTRATION	
3.	Registration Requirements	6
4.	Continuous Registration	7
5.	Course Registration	7
6.	Course Registration Only Through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar	7
7.	Course Registration with the Consent of the Academic Adviser only	8
8.	Effect of not performing Course Registration through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar	8
9.	Registration of Course of Studies – Add, Drop and Change Course	9
10.	Late Course Registration	10
11.	Effect of not performing Course Registration	11
12.	Consequence of Automatic Prevention from Performing Course Registration	11
13. 14.	Appeal as Consequence of Not Continuously Registered	11 12
14. 15.	Payment on Appeal  Continuation of Studies on the Following Semester Due to the Allowed Appeal	12
16.	Continuation of Studies on the Following Semester Due to the Allowed Appeal	12
10. 17.	Course Registration for New Students Registration Slip	12
18.	Compliance to Pre-Requisite Course Before Registration	13
19.	Registration of Students with Debts	13
20.	Student with Scholarship	15
21.	Concurrent Registration of More than One Programme of Studies	15
	T C – ACADEMIC SYSTEM AND LECTURES	13
22.	Academic Activities Begin on the First Day of the Semester	15
23.	Credit Requirement for Graduation	15
24.	Requirement of Complying with the Total Credit Hours for Course Registration	15
25.	Students Classification According to the Total Credit Hours	15
26.	Senate may Amend the Third Schedule	16
	T D –ACADEMIC ADVISORY SYSTEM	
27.	Establishing the Academic Advisory System	16
28.	Space for Academic Advisory System Activities in the Faculty	16
29.	Financial provision for Implementing the Academic Advisory System Activities	16
30.	Activities Schedule Need to Be Planned	16
31.	Appointment of Academic Advisers	17
32.	Power and Responsibilities of Academic Advisers	17
33.	Head of Academic Adviser	18
34.	Guideline to be Academic Advisers	18
35.	Assigning a Group of Students under the Academic Advisers	18
36.	Obligation of Students to Meet Academic Advisers	18
PAR	T E – ATTENDANCE TO ACADEMIC ACTIVITIES	
37.	Attendance to Academic Activities	19
38.	Prohibition from Using Telecommunication Devices	19
39.	Requirement to Comply with 80 Percent of Attendance to Academic Activities	19
40.	Effect of not Complying with 80 Percent of Attendance to Academic Activities	19
41.	Permission to Sit for Examination	19
PAR	T F- TEACHING AND LEARNING	
42.	Time table	20
43.	Number of Students Per Class	20
44.	Number of Students Exceeding the Prescribed Limit	21
45.	Course of Studies Outlines, Test and Examination Dates	21
46.	Uploading Notes Online	21
47.	Monitoring of Teaching by Head of Department	21

#### **Contents**

		PAGES
48.	Monitoring of Teaching Performance by the Course Coordinator	21
49.	Teaching Performance shall be Improved	22
50.	Teaching Evaluation	22
PAR	T G – EXAMINATION	
51.	Students Assessment	22
52.	Zero Mark for Students Who Do Not Sit for Examination	22
53.	Replacement Examination	22
54.	Zero Mark and Lost of Opportunity for Sitting Examinations	23
55.	General Instruction for Examinations	23
56.	Plagiarism	26
57.	Students with Debts	26
PAR	T H – EXAMINATION, MARKING AND GRADING	
58.	Examination, Marking and Grading	26
59.	Application for Review of Grade of Examinations	27
60.	General Instruction Relating to the Conduct of Examinations – Course of Studies, Paper Project, Industrial Training	28
61.	Status of Students	30
62.	Cumulative Average and Award of Status	31
63.	Dean's List	31
64.	Vice Chancellor's List	32
65.	Eligibility for Graduating	33
66.	List of Graduating Students	33
67.	Right of the Senate to Confer Degrees	33
PAR	T I – PROGRAMME OF STUDIES	
68.	Change of Programme of Studies	34
69.	Conditions for Changing a Programme of Studies	34
70.	Change of Major or Minor	35
71.	Deferment of Studies	35
72.	Additional Period of Studies	36
73.	Withdrawal from Programme of Studies	37
74.	Re-application and Re-registration as University Student	37
PAR	T J – GENERAL	
75.	Vice-Chancellor May Allow for Registration or Sitting of Final Examination	38
76.	Updating Information	38
77.	Properly Attired during Lectures	38
78.	Additional Copies	38
79.	Payment of Fee	39
80.	Repeal	39
	T K –SAVING PROVISIONS	
81.	Interpretation	39
82.	Validity of Actions by the University	39
83.	Delegated powers	40
84.	Saving of notice, form, authorization letter etc.	40
85.	Students of Bachelor or Diploma Programme of Studies	40
	Schedule	42
	and Schedule - Guidelines for Course Registration	43
	d Schedule - Credit hours and classification of students	48
	h Schedule - Time table	50
	Schedule - Cumulative Grade Point Average	54
	n Schedule - Senate Review Committee	60
Seve	enth Schedule - Classes of Degrees	62

#### **UNIVERSITIES AND UNIVERSITY COLLEGES ACT 1971**

# THE CONSTITUTION OF UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA (ACADEMIC MATTERS FOR UNDERGRADUATES) RULES 2014

A Rules to coordinate, manage, supervise and administer academic affairs for Programmes of Studies leading towards the conferment of diploma and bachelor degrees which are offered by Universiti Putra Malaysia and other matters related thereto.

In exercise of the power conferred by Section 37(1) of Universiti Putra Malaysia Constitution, the Board making the following Rules:-

#### PART A - PRELIMINARY

#### **Short Title, Application and Commenment Date**

- 1. (1) This Rules may be cited as Universiti Putra Malaysia (Academic Matters For Undergraduates) Rules 2014 and shall come into force on the date appointed by the Vice Chancellor.
- (2) This Rules shall be applicable to the Programmes of Studies which lead to the conferment of bachelor degrees and diploma except for the Programme of Studies listed in the First Schedule.
- (3) Notwithstanding subrule (2), the provisions of this Rules shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to the Programme of Studies listed in the First Schedule until new rules for the respective programme of studies are made and in force in the University.

For the avoidance of doubt, the application of the *mutatis mutandis* provisions shall be determined by the Senate.

(4) First Schedule may be amended, from time to time, by the Senate.

#### Interpretation

2.(1) In this Rules, unless the context otherwise requires-

"academic activities" means lectures, practical, tutorial, assignment, or all other forms of teaching and learning prescribed for the course of studies of a particular Programme of Studies;

"Dean" means head for a Faculty or School appointed by the Vice Chancellor in accordance with subsection 24(4) of the Constitution;

"examination hall" means a venue or place or an area where examination is conducted;

"Faculty" means primary academic entity and is a University Authority under section 16 of the Constitution and may also be known as School;

"password" means a personal identification in the form of one or more combination of letter or number or symbol, or combination of letters, numbers or symbols, given by the University to the students for the purpose of this Rules;

"attendance" means the involvement of a student in academic activities which requires the student to take part either physically or virtually in an academic activities;

"audit course" means a course of studies which is registered by the student but the credit hours for the said course of studies is not calculated in the result of examination and is not included in the total credit hours for the graduation;

"elective course" means a course of studies, which may be choosen by a student to support his Programme of Studies, or to fulfil his interest;

"course of studies" means course of studies offered by Faculty for each of its Programme of Studies;

"equivalent course" means a course of studies identified by Faculty as equivalent with other course of studies by taking into account that the said course of studies has similar contents and teaching hours of at least 70% with other course of studies;

"core course" means a course of studies which is prescribed as necessary in a Programme of Studies to be taken successfully by a student successfully to reach an adequate level of competency in the Programme of Studies;

"University course" means a course of studies which is considered necessary by the Senate to ensure that a comprehensive learning may be provided to the students;

"compulsory course" means course of studies which consists of core course and University course;

"major" means a main or primary specialization programme of studies in a field of Programme of Studies which fulfil the prescribed total credit hours or percentage of credit hours in a Programme of Studies;

"deficit point" means a grade point required by the student to increase the cumulative grade point average to 2.0 and shall be computed according to the formula prescribed in the Fourth Schedule;

"orientation week" means a week prescribed by the University as a week for induction of new students;

"minor" means a second focal field in a Programme of Studies which is registered by the student which fulfil the prescribed total credit hours or percentage of credit hours in a programme of studies.

"student" means a person who is registered with the University and is enrolled into a specific Programme of Studies which lead to the conferment of bachelor degree or diploma;

"new student" means a student who has accepted the offer of the University offer and has registered himself for Programme of Studies and is in the first semester of studies:

"Registrar" means a staff of the University in the group of management and professional in the classification of administration and support services officer assigned in the academic administration and services for undergraduates entity and charged with the responsibility as the head of the entity;

"registration" means registration made in accordance with rule 3 of this Rules;

"course registration" means registration for each course of studies, and includes changes to the course of studies in the Sistem Maklumat Pelajar in accordance with rule 5 of this Rules:

"late course registration" means a registration of courses which is performed after the prescribed period of course registration;

"academic adviser" means an adviser appointed under rule 32 of this Rules;

"examination" means a mode of continuous assessment which is conducted for a student who registered in a course of studies and shall comprise all form of assessment including tests, assignments, quizzes, presentations, practicum, projects, field works, industrial trainings, as the case may be, and shall also include final examinations;

"final examination" means a final examination for a course of studies in any semester of studies;

"prerequisite" means condition precedent which must be fulfilled;

"Programme of Studies" means Programme of Studies which leads to the conferment of bachelor degree or diploma in a specific field of studies;

"gred point average" means a total of grade points calculated in accordance with the formula in Fourth Schedule;

"one hour credit" means one hour of lectures within a week, or two to three hours practical within a week, or one hour of tutorial within a week, or two weeks of industrial training;

"semester" means a system of studies which uses a period of time consisting of 14 weeks of studies, one week of mid semester break, and three weeks of examination for each semester;

"following semester" means the next semester which follows immediately a semester in which a student is registered previously;

"third semester" means a system of studies which uses a period of time consisting of 7 weeks of studies, one week of examination which is conducted during the break after the 18 weeks of the second semester;

"Sistem Maklumat Pelajar" means a portal system which is developed for the purpose of management of student academic activities and supervised by the University for the purpose of storing information of the students;

"system of studies" includes semester, trimester or any other system of studies as prescribed by the Senate;

"slip registration" means a slip which contained information on a successful registered course of studies by the student;

"period of course registration" means a period of time which begins on the first day of the twelfth weeks in a semester and ends on the last day of the fourteenth weeks of the said semester or any period of time prescribed by the University;

"trimester" means a a system of studies which uses a period of time consisting of 14 weeks of studies, one week of examination, and two weeks of break for each trimester;

(2) For the purpose of this Rules, and if it is required by the context, when the word 'semester' is mentioned herein, it shall include a trimester, or other period in other system of studies as prescribed by the Senate.

#### PART B - REGISTRATION

#### **Registration Requirements**

- 3. (1) Every person who is offered by the University to pursue the programme of studies at the bachelor or diploma level and accepted the said offer shall register himself with the Universiti Putra Malaysia in accordance with the mode prescribed by the offer, or by the Senate.
- (2) Subject to rule 4, any person who has registered with the University in accordance with the mode mentioned in subrule (1), shall be known as student of Universiti Putra Malaysia, and the name of the said student shall be listed in the register of the students of the University until the student successfully completed his programme of studies and until the Senate endorses that the said student is eligible to graduate or until for certain reason, the said student disqualify to be a student of the University, whichever is earlier.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything mentioned in subrule (2) and subject to rule 4, the Senate may, at any time, terminate the registration of any student if the Senate is of the opinion that the said student, on academic reason, which is determined by the Senate, is not capable of pursuing his programme of studies and the name of the said student shall automatically be removed from the list of the register of the students of the University and the said student shall cease from being a student of the University.
- (4) The University shall established, keep, and from time to time update a list of the register of the students, and all persons who become the students of the University according to this Rules shall be registered in the said list of the register of the students.
- (5) Any person who has become a student of the University shall be given a password to enable him to access Sistem Maklumat Pelajar for the purpose of registering the course of studies and for other purposes which are permitted by the University.
- (6) A student who has been given a password, is not permitted to disclose the password to other students or staff of the University, and shall always be

responsible to safeguard his password. A student who does not comply with this subrule shall be liable to disciplinary action. A staff of the University who requests, or receives, or uses, the password of the student for the purpose of course registration, shall also be liable to disciplinary action.

#### **Continuous Registration**

- 4. (1) A student who has registered for the Programme of Studies which has been offered to him shall register continuously with the University.
- (2) A student who fails to register continuously with the University shall cease to be a student and his name shall automatically be removed from the list of the register of the students.
- (3) A student is deemed to register continuously when he registers course of studies in accordance with the provisions under this Rules.

#### **Course Registration**

5. A student shall, subject to other provisions prescribed under this Rules or conditions which are prescribed from time to time by the University, perform course registration, in accordance with the mode prescribed by rule 6, for his programme of studies within the course registration period for the purpose of pursuing his studies in the following semester in the University and for the purpose of maintaining his continuous registration.

#### Course Registration Only Through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar

- 6. (1) Subject to rule 7, every student shall perform course registration through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar and shall print the said registration, and maintain record of registration for the student reference in future.
- (2) Course registration performed made under subrule (1) shall be in accordance with the Second Schedule of this Rules.

(3) The Senate may from time to time amend the Second Schedule.

#### Course Registration with the Consent of the Academic Adviser only

7. Every student who wishes to perform course registration shall consult with his academic adviser and shall obtain the consent of his academic adviser before the student performs course registration.

#### Effect of not performing Course Registration through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar

8. Any student who does not, fails or neglects to register through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar is deemed to have not performed course registration as required by rule 5 of this Rules.

#### Illustration

- i. A, a first semester student has written a letter to the Dean of Faculty DEF within the period of course registration stating that he is registering course aaa, bbb and ccc for the purpose of pursuing his studies in the following semester. Writing to the Dean is not an act of performing registration through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar. Thus, this is not a course registration within the meaning of this Rules and A has not performed course registration.
- ii. A, a first semester student has failed to register within the period of course registration and he wants to do a late course registration. He has obtained the consent of the Dean or certain officer of the faculty and has paid the fine for the late course registration but A does not performed the course registration through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar after obtaining the consent and paying the fine. Obtaining the consent and paying the fine is also not a course registration if the actual late course registration not performed through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar.

iii. A, a staff of the Faculty DEF is requested by student B to perform course registration on his behalf and B has given his Sistem Maklumat Pelajar password to A. The act of A registering course of studies on behalf of B is a misdemeanour under subrule 3(6) of this Rules. B must perform registration of his course of studies by himself through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar.

Subrule 10(4) also applies.

#### Registration of Course of Studies – Add, Drop and Change Course

- 9. (1) A student who wishes to make changes to the registration of course of studies may make the changes in the first week of the beginning of the following semester in accordance with the mode prescribed by this Rules.
- (2) A student who wishes to add a course of studies shall comply with the provisions below–
  - (a) a student who wishes to add courses of studies less than 20 credit hours shall obtain endorsement of the academic adviser;
  - (b) a student who wishes to add additional courses of studies exceeding 20 credit hours shall obtain endorsement of the academic adviser and thereafter obtain approval of the Dean; and
  - (c) subject to subrule 2(a) above, a student who has obtained the endorsement of the academic adviser and the teacher teaching the relevant course to add the course of studies and has obtained the approval of his Dean, shall add the approved additional course of studies within two weeks after the following semester begins.
- (3) A student who wishes to drop a course which has been registered successfully by him, shall comply with the following provisions—
  - (a) a student who wishes to drop a course of studies, shall drop the said course of studies within the first and second week of a

semester and shall drop the course of studies through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar;

- (b) subject to paragraph 3(a) and (c), a student who wishes to drop a course of studies which has been registered, is permitted to do so from the beginning of the first week of the following semester until the seventh week of the same semester;
- (c) a student who drops course of studies in accordance with the provision under this subrule, but drops the course of studies after the beginning of the second week of the semester, shall pay a fine amounting RM50.00 to the University for each of the course of studies being dropped by him;
- (d) a student who fails to drop courses of studies which have been registered but do not attend the courses during the whole semester shall be given a grade F for the said courses at the end of the semester.
- (4) A student is not allowed to make changes to the registered courses of studies after the seventh week of a semester.
  - (5) This rule shall also apply to new students.

#### **Late Course Registration**

- 10. (1) Subject to subrule (2) and (3), a student who does not perform course registration within the period of course registration, may perform late course registration during the beginning of the first two weeks of the semester.
- (2) A student who wishes to perform late course registration during the beginning of the first week of the following semester, shall obtain the approval of the Dean of the Faculty of the student before performing the late course registration.

- (3) A student who wishes to perform late course registration after the end of the first week of the beginning of the following semester, shall apart from obtaining the approval of the Dean of the Faculty of the student, pay a fine of late course registration amounting to RM50.00 for each of course of studies that he intends to register.
- (4) The provisions in rule 6, 7 and 8 under this Rules shall be applicable *mutatis mutandis* to students who wish to perform late course registration.

#### **Effect of not performing Course Registration**

11. A student who does not perform, fails, or neglects to perform course registration within the period of course registration, or fails to perform late course registration within the period prescribed under this Rules, or fails to make changes to the registration of his courses of studies in accordance with the mode and within the time prescribed by this Rules, shall automatically be prevented from performing any course registration or changes to the registration of courses of studies thereafter.

#### Consequence of Automatic Prevention from Performing Course Registration

12. A student who is automatically prevented from performing course registration is not continuously registered with the University and his registration shall cease, and his name shall automatically be removed from the list of the students of the University.

#### Appeal as Consequence of Not Continuously Registered

13. Notwithstanding anything stated in the preceeding rule, a student whose registration has ceased and his name is automatically removed from the list of the registration of the students of the University as a consequence of not continuously registered or fail or neglect to continuously register with the University, may appeal to the Registrar in the semester in which his name his automatically removed, or in the following semester of which his name is automatically removed, to be reinstated as a student and to re-continue his studies in the following semester.

#### **Payment on Appeal**

14. A person who makes an appeal to the University to be re-registered as a student in accordance with rule 13, shall make a payment of RM100.00 to the University.

#### Continuation of Studies on the Following Semester Due to the Allowed Appeal

15. If the Registrar allows the person's appeal in accordance with rule 13, the person whose appeal is allowed may continue his studies in the next semester, and not in the semester in which his registration is terminated and his name is automatically removed from the list of the register of the students of the University or in the semester in which he makes his appeal.

#### **Course Registration for New Students**

- 16. (1) Notwithstanding anything stated in the preceding Rules, new students are allowed to perform course registration from the first day of the orientation week until the last day of the second week of the beginning of the semester without payment of fine. Failure to register within the prescribed period shall result the offer to be automatically annulled.
- (2) New students who received the offer of admission on the third week of the beginning of the semester are exempted from the payment of fine. Failure to register within the prescribed period shall result the offer of admission to be automatically annulled.

#### **Registration Slip**

17. (1) The Faculty of the student, subject to the student performs the course registration within the period of the course registration prescribed by this Rules, shall make an online notification to the student, on the first day of the beginning of the

semester or on any other suitable day, pertaining to the course of studies which the student has successfully registered, and the student shall print the registration slip as a record of his course registration for that particular semester.

(2) The Faculty of the student shall make an online notification to the student about any late course registration which has been registered or any changes of the course registration made by the student during the period of which the student is allowed to add or drop his course of studies, not later than three working days or any other reasonable period, after the student performed such registration, and the student shall print the registration slip for such courses as an update record of his course registration for that particular semester.

#### **Compliance to Pre-Requisite Course Before Registration**

- 18. If and when a course of studies of which a student intent to register has prerequire, the pre-requisite shall be deemed to be complied—
  - (a) if the pre-requisite is in the form of course of studies, the student proves that he has passed the pre-requisite course of studies or equivalent course of studies at a prescribed grade; or
  - (b) if the pre-requisite is in the form of consent of a teacher, the consent has been obtained, provided always that the teacher shall customarily and reasonably consider all appropriate facts before granting or rejecting his consent.

#### **Registration of Students with Debts**

19. A student with debts, or a student who has not paid his fee of studies or any other debts to the University including a traffic fine, in a particular semester, shall be barred from performing course registration for the following semester.

#### Student with Scholarship

20. Notwithstanding anything stated under rule 19, a student who receives a scholarship or loan from any agencies for the purpose of his studies in the University and the scholarship or loan is receiveable through the office in charge with the responsibility of the finance of the University, and the Office is allowed to deduct directly the scholarship or loan which is paid by the agencies the amount of fee of studies or any other amount of debts, the student may perform course registration despite he is still in debt with the University.

#### **Concurrent Registration of More than One Programme of Studies**

21. Students are not allowed to register more that one Programme of Studies concurrently at any time, whether in this University or at any other public or private higher learning institutions.

#### PART C - ACADEMIC SYSTEM AND LECTURES

- 22. (1) The Programme of Studies in the University shall commonly conducted in accordance with the semester system of studies.
- (2) The Senate however may allow certain Programme of Studies to be conducted in accordance with trimester system of studies or any other system of studies, after taking into account the interest of the Programme of Studies to be conducted in such system of studies and the general well-being of the students enrolling the Programme of Studies.
- (3) Senate shall determined and prescribed an academic calendar for each studies session by Programme of Studies, level of studies and system of studies. The academic calendar shall be announced to students and teachers.

#### Academic Activities Begin on the First Day of the Semester

23. Academic activities in the Universty shall take place on the first day of the academic calendar as prescribed by the Senate in accordance with subrule 22(3).

#### **Credit Requirement for Graduation**

- 24. (1) Every Programme of Studies at the level of bachelor's degree shall normally consist of a minimum total credit hours of 120 credit hours for graduation, or any other credit hours which exceeds 120 credit hours as prescribed by the Senate for the Programme of Studies, and every student shall comply with the requirement of the credit hours as prescribed before he is eligible to graduate.
- (2) Programme of Studies at the diploma level shall normally consist of a minimum total credit hours of 90 credit hours for graduation, or any other credit hours which exceeds 90 credit hours as prescribed by the Senate for the Programme of Studies, and every student shall comply with the requirement of the credit hours as prescribed before he is eligible to graduate.

#### Requirement of Complying with the Total Credit Hours for Course Registration

25. Students shall at all times during the registration with the University, ensure that the course of studies registered in every semester comply with the total credit hours as stated in the Third Schedule.

#### **Students Classification According to the Total Credit Hours**

26. Students registered with the University shall be classified in accordance with the total credit hours obtained as stated in the Third Schedule.

#### **Senate may Amend the Third Schedule**

27. Senate may amend the Third Schedule and the amendment shall be announced to all students.

#### PART D -ACADEMIC ADVISORY SYSTEM

#### **Establishing the Academic Advisory System**

28. The University shall establish the Academic Advisory System in accordance with the provisions in this Rules.

#### **Space for Academic Advisory System Activities in the Faculty**

29. For the purpose of carrying out the Academic Advisory System, the Faculty shall provide certain spaces in the Faculty as a place to carry out the Academic Advisory System activities.

#### Financial provision for Implementing the Academic Advisory System Activities

30. The Dean of Faculty shall allocate certain financial provision from the Faculty management fund to carry out the Academic Advisory System and shall ensure that the Academic Advisory System activities are implemented according to the planned activities schedule.

#### **Activities Schedule Need to Be Planned**

31. Dean of Faculty shall prepare an Academic Advisory System activities plan schedule every semester and shall ensure that the activities plan schedule is submitted online to the Deputy Vice Cancellor charged with the responsibility of academic matters in the University.

#### **Appointment of Academic Advisers**

32. All teachers, shall be and is hereby appointed as, academic advisers to a group of students who will be determined by the Dean of the Faculty of the teachers.

#### **Power and Responsibilities of Academic Advisers**

- 33. (1) Every academic adviser shall hold the responsibilities as stated in this Rules, and shall have all the necessary powers to carry out the responsibilities.
- (2) Academic adviser shall be concerned and knowledgable about the curriculum of the faculty and shall-
  - (a) monitor the progress of the performance of the student online and advice the students accordingly;
  - (b) advice the students relating to the registration of course of studies and other matters related thereto and if necessary, to make endorsement on the registration of course of studies, before the students perform the registration of course of studies through Sistem Maklumat Pelajar;
  - assist students in understanding the curriculum, system of studies, system of registration, system of examination, pre-requisite courses and exemption of courses of studies;
  - (d) give advice to overcome students academic problems;
  - (e) assist students in resolving problems other than non-academic, and if necessary to refer the problem to the relevant parties;
  - (f) supervise group project (development and extension);
  - (g) plan, implement and monitor activities involving all students under his advisory;

- (h) advice students to register courses based on Programme of Studies curriculum enrolled by the students.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything on the responsibilities and duties of the academic advisers, the obligation of registration, dropping and exemption of course of studies is placed on the student.

#### **Head of Academic Adviser**

- 34. (1) A Dean shall appoint a Head of Academic Adviser among the faculty's academic advisers.
- (2) The Head of Academic Adviser appointed under subrule (1), shall be the coordinator to the academic advisers of the faculty.

#### **Guideline to be Academic Advisers**

35. Dean of Faculty shall make availbale a guideline pertaining to the Advisory Academic System for his Faculty and shall distribute the guideline to every academic adviser in his Faculty.

#### Assigning a Group of Students under the Academic Advisers

36. Dean of Faculty shall ensure that a group of students is assigned under an academic adviser, and the students assigned to the group shall consist of students of the same Faculty.

#### **Obligation of Students to Meet Academic Advisers**

37. (1) Every student is obligated to meet his academic adviser as determined by the Faculty, at least twice per semester.

(2) Academic Advisers shall submit a report to the Head of Academic Advisers at least twice per semester.

#### PART E - ATTENDANCE TO ACADEMIC ACTIVITIES

#### **Attendance to Academic Activities**

38. A student who has successfully registered course of studies in the Sistem Maklumat Pelajar shall attend academic activities of the course of studies.

#### **Prohibition from Using Telecommunication Devices**

39. A student who attends academic activities in a lecture hall or room is prohibited from using mobile phone or any other telecommunication devices which disturbs other students and the environment of studies thereof.

#### Requirement to Comply with 80 Percent of Attendance to Academic Activities

40. A student shall attend not less than 80 percent of the total hours of the academic activities of his registered course of studies.

#### Effect of not Complying with 80 Percent of Attendance to Academic Activities

41. Students who do not comply with the requirement of 80 percent of attendance in academic activities of his registered course of studies, without any reasonable excuse, shall be barred from sitting for the final examination of the course of studies, and the students shall be given zero mark for the final examination of the course of studies.

#### **Permission to Sit for Examination**

42. (1) Notwithstanding anything stated in rule 41, the University may allow students who do not comply with the requirement of 80 percent of attendance in

academic activities of his registered course of studies, to sit for the final examination if the Dean of the Faculty which offers the course of studies is satisfied, that the attendance which is below than 80 per cent is due—

- (a) to health problems based on the medical report issued by a Government or University Health Centre medical health officer; or
- (b) to any other reasonable excuse which is not related to health problems.
- (2) The Dean of the Faculty shall inform the Registrar whether he is satisfied with the reason given under paragraph 1(a) or (b).

#### PART F- TEACHING AND LEARNING

#### Time table

- 43. (1) The Dean of Faculty shall make available a course of study time table taking into account the availability of lecture room and laboratory in Faculty and the Registrar shall co-ordinate a fixed time table of lectures and practicals for a period for at least five years.
- (2) For the purpose of preparing a time table for course of studies, Dean of Faculty shall comply with the time table for course of studies as prescribed in the Fourth Schedule of this Rules.
  - (3) Senate may, from time to time, amend the Fourth Schedule.

#### **Number of Students Per Class**

44. Dean of Faculty shall ensure that the number of students per class for each course of studies is only between 10 to 80 students.

#### **Number of Students Exceeding the Prescribed Limit**

45. Notwithstanding anything stated under rule 44, the Vice-Chancellor may in a certain situation, allow the limit of student to exceed or to be less than the numbers stated in the preceding rule for a course of studies.

#### **Course of Studies Outlines, Test and Examination Dates**

46. Every teachers, or coordinator course of studies shall prepare and submit the outlines of course of studies together with the date of test examination which is expected to be held to the Head of Department at least two weeks before the semester begins and to the students on the first day of the academic activities conducted after the semester begins.

#### **Uploading Notes Online**

47. Teachers shall upload lecture notes on the website or portal which is made available by the University and for that purpose, Faculty shall provide the facilities and support staff to assists teachers in uploading the lecture notes on the website or portal.

#### Monitoring of Teaching by Head of Department

48. Head of Department shall, continuously monitor the teaching of a teacher and the teaching suitability with the curriculum of the course of studies.

#### **Monitoring of Teaching Performance by the Course Coordinator**

49. Course coordinator is obligated to monitor teaching performance of a teacher for course of studies under his coordination.

#### **Teaching Performance shall be Improved**

50. The University shall ensure that the teaching performance of teachers is improved from time to time and for this purpose, the University may direct any teacher to attend any course on teaching and learning.

#### **Teaching Evaluation**

- 51. (1) A teacher teaching a course of studies shall be evaluated by students registered for the course of studies and each evaluation made by the student is confidential and shall not be disclosed to anyone except to the said teacher, Dean of Faculty and Head of Department of the said teacher, and University Management Committee.
- (2) Evaluation made under this rule shall be carried out at the end of each semester or as directed by the Senate.

#### **PART G - EXAMINATION**

#### **Students Assesment**

52. Subject to other provisions in this Rules, students who has registered course of studies shall be assessed by the University, through examination of his registered course of studies on the date, time and place prescribed by the Senate, Faculty or his teachers of course of studies, as the case may be.

#### Zero Mark for Students Who Do Not Sit for Examination

53. Students who do not sit for examination for the purpose of assestment as stated under rule 52 shall be given zero mark for the examination which he did not sit for.

#### **Replacement Examination**

54. (1) Notwithstanding anything provided under rule 53, students may sit for replacement examinations if the students provide reasonable excuse, and the Dean

of Faculty of the students after consultation with the teacher of the course of studies of the students who did not sit for the appointed examination, is satisfied with the reasonableness of the excuse given.

(2) Any replacement examinations made under subrule (1) shall be conducted within the period of two weeks of the original examination date, or any other period before the next semester begins.

#### Zero Mark and Lost of Opportunity for Sitting Examinations

55. If a student who has been given opportunity under rule 54 fails to sit for the replacement examination, the student shall be given zero mark and the student shall have no other opportunity to apply for other replacement examination.

#### **General Instruction for Examinations**

- 56. Students who are evaluated through examination shall be bound by the following instructions—
  - (a) Students shall enter the examination hall only when permitted by the invigilator;
  - (b) Students are not allowed to enter into the examination hall after 30 minutes the examination begins;
  - (c) Students who have entered into the examination hall and have been in the hall for not less than 30 minutes after the examination commences, may with the permission of the invigilator, leave the hall;
  - (d) Students are not permitted to leave the examination hall within the last 15 minutes of the examination;
  - (e) Students shall display student cards while sitting for the examinaton. Students who fail, refuse or neglect to display studentcards shall be barred

from sitting the examination by the invigilators unless the invigilators are able to identify the identity of the students who sit the examination;

- (f) Students must write clearly student numbers, Programme of Studies, course of studies, semester, and classification as well as any other information in the spaces provided on the question paper or answer script at each examination. University shall not be liable for any losses incurred by the students for not complying with this instruction.
- (g) Students shall not copy or cheat during examinations, and subject to the provisions below—
  - (i) students, except prior permission has been given by the invigilators, are prohibited from bringing lecture notes, whether such lecture notes are related or not with the examination which he sits, or any other reading materials or reference materials, communication devices or scientific calculators, into the examination hall;
  - (ii) students who fail, refuse, neglect to comply, or are not complying with, paragraph (g)(i) and are found by the invigilators to be in the possesion of lecture notes, communication devices or scientific calculators while being in the examination hall, are deemed to copy or cheat in the examination, and the invigilators shall prevent the students from sitting the examination, and the students shall be instructed to leave the examination hall and the invigilators shall confiscate the lecture notes, communication devices or scientific calculators.
  - (iii) the invigilators shall make a written report pertaining to the act of copying or cheating under paragraph (g)(ii) by the students to the Dean of Faculty as soon as practicable and deliver the lecture notes, communication devices or scientific calculators which have been confiscated by the invigilators to the Dean of Faculty of the students.

A copy of the written report shall be submitted to the Deputy Vice Chancellor charged with the responsibility of academic matters in the University and the Deputy Vice Chancellor charged with the responsibility of the students affairs in the University.

- (iv) students who have been instructed to leave under paragraph (g)(ii) shall be given zero mark for the examination which he was instructed to leave;
- (v) the zero mark given under subparagraph 56(g)(iv) does not prevent a disciplinary action to be instituted against the students for copying or cheating under the rules relating to the discipline of students in force in the University;
- (vi) if a disciplinary action is instituted against the students, and the student is found not guilty by the Disciplinary Authority, the student shall as soon as possible after the decision of the Disciplinary Authority being served to him, be given the opportunity to re-sit for the examination which he was alleged to copy or cheat, and the mark and grade which have been given to the student shall be adjusted according to the assessment obtained by the student after he has resit the examination;
- (vii) if a disciplinary action is instituted against the students, and the student is found guilty, or if on certain reasons which the Disciplinary Authority thinks appropriate, a discpiplinary action is not instituted against the students, the zero mark given under subparagraph 56(g)(iv) shall remain;
- (viii) the zero mark given under subparagraph 56(g)(iv), or the retention of the zero mark under subparagraph 56(g)(vii) is not a disciplinary punishment;
- (h) students shall be properly attired and shall always observe the manners while being in the examination hall. Invigilators have the right to prevent the students from entering the examination hall, or if the students have entered into the examination hall, direct the students to leave from the examination

hall. The students who have been prevented from entering the examination hall or who have been directed to leave the examination hall by the invigilators shall be given zero mark for the examination. The invigilators who prevented the students from entering, or directed the students to leave the examination hall, shall make a report to the Dean of Faculty of the students on the non-compliance of the students to properly attired or to properly observe the manners and on the zero mark given to the students for the examinations;

- (i) students are not allowed to smoke in the examination hall;
- (j) Students are not allowed to bring in foods and drinks into the examination hall.

#### **Plagiarism**

- 57. (1) Students are prohibited from committing plagiarism, data forgery or cheating.
- (2) Students who commit plagiarism, data forgery or cheating shall be liable to the disciplinary action under the rules relating to the discipline of students in force in the University.

#### Students with Debts

58. Students with debts, or students who have not paid the fee of studies or any other debts to the University, in a semester, shall be barred from sitting the final examination of the semester in which the students are indebted.

#### PART H – EXAMINATION, MARKING AND GRADING

#### **Examination, Marking and Grading**

59. (1) Students who have enrolled courses of studies shall be examined, given marks and grades according the guidelines in the Fifth Schedule of this Rules.

- (2) The examination under subrule 59(1) may be conducted through any assestment includingtests, assignments, quizzes, presentations, practical, projects, field works, industrial training, or any other methods suitable for such courses of studies.
- (3) Examination marks which have been given and accumulated before the final examination of courses of studies shall be announced by the teachers of the courses of studies to students.
- (4) Result of the examination for the whole Programme of Studies of a student, unless for student with debts, shall be announced by the Registrar, and if the result of the examination is to be announced prior to the endorsement and approval of the Senate, the result of the examination shall be announced by the Registrar by stating that the said result is subject to the endorsement and approval by the Senate.
- (5) Result of examination of all courses of studies enrolled by students in a semester including students who are eligible to graduate, and students who fail and are terminated, shall be submitted for endorsement and approval, or notification of the Senate, as the case may be.
- (6) The result of examination of all courses of studies in a semester or the whole Programme of Studies of the students may also be submitted by the Registrar to the parents or guardian of students.
  - (7) Senate may from time to time amend the Fifth Schedule.

#### **Application for Review of Grade of Examinations**

- 60. (1) Students who have been examined, given marks and grades, and given the fail and terminated status, may apply for a review of the grade in accordance with the Sixth Schedule of this Rules.
- (2) Students who have obtained the status other than fail and terminated but are not satisfied with the assestment and grades given may apply for a review in accordance with the manner prescribed under subrule 61(k) of this Rules.

## General Instruction Relating to the Conduct of Examinations – Course of Studies, Paper Project, Industrial Training

- 61. (1) Every examination conducted by examiners shall be in accordance with the provisions stated below—
  - (a) every teacher who teaches a course of studies is qualified and is hereby appointed as an examiner for the course of studies teach by him, except on reason determined by the Senate or other University Authorities, he losses his qualification as an examiner;
  - (b) every teacher who examines a student shall announce the result of the examination which includes tests, assignments, quizzes, presentations, practicum, projects, field works, industrial training, or any other assestments, as the case may be, to the student within two weeks after the examination takes place;
  - (c) each department shall establish a Review and Answer Scheme Committee:
  - (d) every teacher shall announce the date of examination in the course outlines of his course of studies;
  - (e) the first assesment shall be conducted around the fifth week of a semester and the result shall be announced before the seventh week of the semester ends;
  - (f) the last assesment before the final examination shall be conducted around the tenth week of a semester and the result shall be announced before the twelth week of the semester ends;
  - (g) students who are classified as Senior or Final i.e. students who are in the last two semesters, or the last two trimester, or in any other period at the end of his studies as determined by the Senate in accordance with his system of studies, for his enrolled Programme

of Studies, as the case may be, who fail a course of studies may apply to sit a special examination by way of re-sitting the examination of the course of studies. The special examination for the course of studies shall only be sat once. The student shall submit his application within one week from the date of the official announcement and the special examination shall be conducted within one week after the closing date for the application to sit the special examination. Students who sit for special examination shall only be eligible to obtain a maximum grade D or any other grade for passing the Programme of Studies as prescribed by the Senate. This special examination grade shall replace the students' failing grade for the course of studies;

- (h) a failing grade in a particular course of studies for a Programme of Studies shall not be taken into account for the purpose of calculating the total cumulative grade point average if the students repeat the same course of studies and thereafter obtain a passing grade for the course of studies. However, if the students repeatedly take the course of studies and finally obtain a passing grade, the first failing grade shall not be taken into the calculation of the total cumulative grade point average, but the second and subsequent failing grade shall be taken into account;
- (i) students may repeat only once, with the permission of the Dean, a course of studies for the purpose of improving its grade. The grade of repeated course of studies shall be used as the final grade replacing the original grade in the culculation of the total cumulative grade point average. However, the original grade shall be remained in the transcript of the student. If the students fails in in the repeated course of studies; the students shall repeat the repeated course of studies:
- (j) the Dean shall chair the Review of the Result Examination Committee before submitting the results to the Registrar;

- (k) students who are not satisfied with the result of examination of course of studies announced by the Registrar, may make a review of the result of the examination in accordance with the Sixth Schedule of this Rules by paying the review fee amounting RM20.00 to the Bursar Office, for each of the result of the examination course of studies which the students intend to be reviewed. The review may be conducted starting from the day the examination result is announced and end on the last day of the first week of the beginning of the semester;
- (I) for the academic project which usually being carried out within two semesters and contain project A and project B, students who fail a particular project may repeat the project in one semester if the students repeat the same academic project. If the repeated project involves a change of research scope, the students shall repeat the academic project within two semesters
- (m) students who obtain a result of fail or unsatisfactory in the industrial training shall repeat the industrial training until the students obtain a grade of pass or satisfactory.

#### **Status of Students**

- 62. A status of students for a semester shall be determined based on the following criteria—
  - (a) Cumulative Grade Point Average of the students at the end of the previous semester;
  - (b) the status of the students in the previous semester.

#### **Cumulative Average and Award of Status**

#### 63. Subject to rule 63 above-

- (a) students who obtain Cumulative Grade Point Average of at least 2.000 shall be awarded a status of 'good'. A status of 'good'awarded under this rule is only to enable the students to continue his studies in the following semester and it only describes the status of the academic of the students and is not related to or may be taken into account in other matters which is nonacademic;
- (b) students may be awarded a status of 'warning' if the students accumulate deficit point less than 12;
- (c) students who accumulate deficit point 12 or more shall be awarded a status of 'probation' and students who already are awarded a status of 'warning' shall be awarded a status of 'probation' if the students fail to achieve Cumulative Grade Point Average of 2.000 at the end of the semester in which the students are awarded status of 'warning'. Students who are awarded the status of 'probation' shall be terminated in accordance with this Rules if the students fail to achieve Cumulative Grade Point Average of 2.000 or more at the end of the semester in which the students are awarded the status of 'probation';
- (d) without prejudice to paragrapgh (c) above, students who obtain deficit point of 24 or more shall be terminated in accordance with this Rules.

#### **Dean's List**

- 64. (1) Full time students of all Programme of Studies, who fulfill the conditions below shall be honoured in a Dean's List and the students' name shall be registered in the Dean's List—
  - (a) obtain the result of Grade Point Average of 3.75 until 3.999 for a particular semester;

- (b) the students do not obtain any grade of TM in any courses of studies for the evaluated semester;
- (c) the students do not repeat in any courses of studies for the evaluated semester;
- (d) grades for the replacement examination or special examination are not taken into account for the purpose of this list;
- (e) the students have not been subjected to disciplinary action; and
- (f) the students who register less than 12 credit hours are not eligible to be listed in the Dean's List.
- (2) The Dean's List shall be issued by the Faculty every semester.
- (3) The name of students who receive the Dean's List shall be displayed on the notice board of the Faculty and the honour of the Dean's List shall be recorded in the transcript of the students.

#### Vice Chancellor's List

- 65. (1) Full time students of all Programme of Studies, who fulfill the conditions below shall be honoured in the Vice Chancellor's List and the students' name shall be registred in the Vice Chancellor's List–
  - (a) obtain the result of Grade Point Average of 4.000 for a particular semester;
  - (b) the students do not obtain any grade of TM in any courses of studies for the evaluated semester;
  - (c) grades for the replacement examination or special examination is not taken into account for the purpose of this list;
  - (d) the students have not been subjected to disciplinary action; and
  - (e) the students who register less than 12 credit hours are not eligible to be listed in the Vice Chancellor's List.

- (2) The Vice Chancellor's List shall be issued by the Registar for each semester.
- (3) The name of students who receive the Vice Chancellor's List shall be displayed on the notice board of the Faculty and the Vice Chancellor's List award shall be recorded in the transcript of the students.

#### **Eligibility for Graduating**

- 66. (1) Students who enroll into Programme of Studies and have passed all the compulsory courses of studies or equivalent courses for the Programme of Studies, and fulfill all other requirements prescribed for the Programme of Studies, and achieve Cumulative Grade Point Average of not less than 2.000 are eligible to graduate.
- (2) Students who do not comply with subrule (1) shall be terminated in accordance with this Rules.
- (3) Notwithstanding subrule (2) and subject to rule 72 of this Rules, a student who does not meet the requirements for graduation under subrule (1) may be allowed a maximum of two additional semester to repeat any course of studies which the student has failed, or to take other course of studies of not less than 12 credit hours per semester for the purpose of improving his status so that he is eligible to graduate.

#### **List of Graduating Students**

67. The Registrar shall, within the period prescribed by the Senate, prepare a list of eligible graduating students for the endorsement of the Senate.

#### **Right of the Senate to Confer Degrees**

68. (1) The Senate, upon receiving the list of graduating students, may endorse as to whether the students therein are eligible to graduate and be conferred the diplomas or bachelor degrees, as the case may be, according to the class of degrees

prescribed in the Seventh Schedule, or may not endorse any students therein from graduating and may refuse to confer any diploma or bachelor degrees to the students.

- (2) If the Senate refuses to confer any diploma or bachelor degrees to the students, the Senate shall record the reasons for such refusal and the Registrar shall notify in writing the reasons for the refusal to the students.
  - (3) The Senate may from time to time amend the Seventh Schedule.

#### PART I - PROGRAMME OF STUDIES

#### **Change of Programme of Studies**

69. Application for change of Programme of Studies shall use the form prescribed by the Deputy Vice Chancellor charged with the responsibility of academic matters of the University and the form is to be submitted to Pendaftar within two weeks after the announcement of the examination results. The Registrar shall submit the application form to change the Programme of Studies to the relevant Deans of the Faculties. The final decision on the application to change the Programme of Studies shall be at the discretion of the relevant Deans of the Faculties. The Registrar shall announce the results of the application in writing to the students within the first week of the following semester.

#### **Conditions for Changing a Programme of Studies**

- 70. Application for changing a Programme of Studies may only be exercised by the students who have completed at least two semesters of studies, subject to the following conditions—
  - (a) students must have at least a status of 'Good' and a Cumulative Grade Point Average of 2.000; and

- (b) students with a status of 'warning' or 'probation' may apply for a change of Programme of Studies and shall not receive any examption for any course of studies and shall be deemed as new students.
- (c) the previous Cumulative Grade Point Average for the Programme of Studies shall not be brought forward and taken into account for the calculation of Cumulative Grade Point Average of his new changed Programme of Studies.

# **Change of Major or Minor**

- 71. A student may apply to change his major or minor in his Programme of Studies on the following conditions—
  - (a) a change of major or minor of his Programme of Studies shall be approved by the Dean of his Faculty; and
  - (b) If the student obtains failing grade in the previous major or minor of his Programme of Studies, the failing grade shall be replaced with any passing grades in a new major or minor group.

#### **Deferment of Studies**

- 72. (1) A student may defer his Programme of Studies for a particular semester with a reasonable excuse and with the approval of the Dean of his Faculty.
- (2) Application for deferment of the Programme of Studies shall be submitted to the Dean of his Faculty within the first seven weeks of the beginning of the semester.
- (3) If the student defers his Programme of Studies after the second weeks of the beginning of the semester, the fee of studies shall not be refunded except with the approval of the Vice Chancellor.

- (4) After the seventh week of the beginning of the semester, the application for the deferment of the Programme of Studies may only be allowed—
  - (a) on medical reason certified by a medical health officer from the government or University Health Centre; or
  - (b) if approved by the Senate.
- (5) A student is not allowed to defer his Programme of Studies during or after the final week of the examination of a particular semester.
- (6) The maximum permissible period of deferment of studies for the whole duration of the Programme of Studies is four semesters. For the avoidance of doubt, the period of permissible deferment of studies shall not be taken into the calculation of the whole duration of the Programme of Studies.
- (7) Without prejudice to the provision under subrule (5), a student is not allowed to defer his Programme of Studies except on medical reason certified by a medical health officer from the Government or University Health Centre.
- (8) For the purpose of subrule (4) and (7), medical reason shall not include maternity cases or any illness, desease, injury or health incapacity which is self-inflicted by the student.

#### **Additional Period of Studies**

- 73. (1) A final semester student who obtains a status of "fail and is terminated" with a deficit point not exceeding 24 may apply to—
  - (a) repeat any course of studies which he has failed; or
  - (b) register course of studieswhich the total credit hours is not less than 12 for the purpose of improving his status to enable him to graduate;

in the following semester.

- (2) A student who repeats his course of studies mentioned in subrule (1), shall only be allowed to do so for the period of two semesters, or three trimesters or any other period allowed by the Senate.
- (3) The additional period of two semesters, or three trimesters, or any additional period allowed by the Senate, mentioned in subrule (2), includes the calculation of additional four semesters or six trimesters or any additional period in any System of Studies allowed by the Senate.
- (4) For the avoidance of doubt, the deferment period of studies shall not be taken into account for the purpose of calculation of the additional maximum period of studies.

# Withdrawal from Programme of Studies

- 74. (1) Students are allowed to withdraw from Programme of Studies.
- (2) If a student withdraws from his Programme of Studies, the student shall cease to be a student of the University and his name shall automatically be removed from the list of the register of the students.
- (3) A student who withdraws after the second weeks of the beginning of a semester from his Programme of Studies shall not receive any refund of any payment of fees made to the University. Fee which may be refunded within the period of the first two weeks of the beginning of the semester shall ony be fee of studies, except if directed otherwise by the Vice-Chancellor.

## Re-application and Re-registration as University Student

75. A student who obtains the status of fail and is terminated may apply to reregister as University student for other Programme of Studies offered by the University in accordance with the conditions prescribed by the University and the enrolment of the student, if accepted by the University, is a new enrolment and the student is a new student.

#### PART J - GENERAL

#### **Vice-Chancellor May Allow for Registration or Sitting of Final Examination**

76. Notwitstanding anything under rule 19 and 59 of this Rules, the Vice-Chancellor may permit students to perform course registration or sit for the final examination, if the Vice-Chancellor is of the opinion that such permission is necessary and appropriate to be given to the student.

## **Updating Information**

77. A student is responsible to update from time to time, his personal information and shall notify the University on any changes pertaining to his personal information.

#### **Properly Attired during Lectures**

78. A student shall always be properly attired and shall always observe his manner while being on campus and during lectures.

#### **Additional Copies**

- 79. (1) A student who wishes to obtain additional copy of documents, not including certificate of academic, related to himself which was issued by the University, may obtain such additional documents by making payment amounting to RM10.00 to the Office of Bursar for each copy of the document.
- (2) A graduate for studies session 2005 onwards who wishes for the reissuance of his academic certificate, may obtain such certificate by making payment amounting to RM200.00 to the office charged with the financial responsibility of the University for each copy of the certificate.

## **Payment of Fee**

- 80. (1) Students shall pay fee of Programme of Studies prescribed by the University, fees related to any facilities pertaining to the management of the academic affairs of the students and any other fee for any services provided by the University to the students.
- (2) Subject to the decision of the officer charged with financial responsibility of the University from time to time, the fees in subrule (1) shall be paid during the registration in accordance with Rule 3 of this Rules.

#### Repeal

81. Universiti Putra Malaysia (Academic) Rules 2003 is repealed.

#### PART K -SAVING PROVISIONS

## Interpretation

82. In this Part, unless the context otherwise requires—

"repealed Rules" means the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Academic) Rules 2003 which is repealed under Rule 81 of this Rules;

"appointed date" means the date on which this Rules shall have effect.

## Validity of Actions by the University

83. Any offer of admission and acceptance to the University, results of examination, the conferment of bachelor degrees and diplomas, execution of instruments, documents or any arrangement made by the University under the repealed Rules,

shall on the appointed date be deemed to have been made under this Rules and continue to be in force and have effect.

#### **Delegated powers**

84. All powers delegated under the repealed Rules, shall on the appointed date, in so far as the delegation is consistent with this Rules, be deemed to have been delegated under this Rules.

## Saving of notice, form, authorization letter etc.

85. All notices, forms, authorization letters or directions issued or made by the University before the appointed date shall remain in force, in so far as the notices, forms, authorization letters or directions are consistent with, or until replaced or revoked by the provision of this Rules.

## Students of Bachelor or Diploma Programme of Studies

86. All students of Bachelor or Diploma Programme of Studies who immediatedly before the appointed date were admitted to enrol Programme of Studies at the University under the repealed Rules, and on the appointed date still enrolling the Programme of Studies be deemed to be admitted under this Rules.

Made	2014	
[Minutes of	f Board	]
[UPM/PPU	U/100/	; UPM/ACAD/]

# PROF. EMERITUS TAN SRI DATO' DR. SYED JALALUDDIN SYED SALIM

Chairman of Board of Director Universiti Putra Malaysia

#### First Schedule

## (Rule 1)

[Bachelor and Diploma Programme of Studies which this Rules is applicable *mutatis mutandis* as determined by the Senate and until new rules for the respective bachelor and diploma programme of studies are made and in force in the University]

- 1. Programme of Studies for Medical Doctor;
- 2. Programme of Studies using the Long Distance Education method;
- 3. Programme of Studies for Executive;
- 4. Programme of Studies in collaboration with National Sport Council;
- 5. Any programme of studies in collaboration with other higher learning institution, agency or body corporate which the University has entered into agreement with.

#### Second Schedule

## (Rule 6)

[Guidelines for Course Registration]

## **Components of Programme of Studies**

1. The University Programme of Studies curriculum of shall comprise of three course of studies components, namely course of studies for university courses, course of studies for core courses and course of studies for elective courses as follows:

COMPONENT	RANGE
	(in percentage)
University Courses	15– 20
Core Courses	50 – 60
Elective Courses	25 – 30

Or any other range for the component of course of studies as prescribed for the standard of the respective programme by the Senate.

## Requirement to Register Course of Studies for Each Component

- 2. (1) Students are required to take and pass the course of studies for the prescribed components in accordance with the curriculum of Programme of Studies. A student who fails in any course of studies within the component of university courses and core courses shall repeat the same course of studies until he passes the course.
- (2) Students who are taking course on language skill within the component of university courses, and fail that course, may repeat the course according to the prescribed package under item 7 of this Schedule.

#### **Elective Courses**

3. Students who register for course of studies within the component of elective courses and fail that course, may repeat the same course of studies or may register other course within the component of elective courses in accordance with the requirement of his Programme of Studies.

## **Core Courses Which Are Not Offered by the Faculty**

- 4. (1) If a course of studies within the component of core courses is not offered in a particular semester, and in that particular semester there is a final year student who will be graduating, the student may register an equivalent course of studies at other faculty with the consent of the Dean of the faculty of the student.
- (2) The Dean of the Faculty of the student shall notify the Registrar on the application of the equivalence of the course of studies and the Registrar shall acquire the confirmation on the equivalence of the course of studies from the Dean of the Faculty of which the course of studies is to be registered, before the Dean of the Faculty of the student gives his consent to the student to register the said course of studies.

#### Cocuriculum with Credit

5. For the cocuriculum with credit, registration shall be performed within the period of course registration and the teacher shall enter the grade within the prescribed period from the date of assessment of the cocuriculum with credit. The credit for the cocuriculum shall be calculated in the total credit hours for the graduation.

#### **Audit Courses**

6. A few courses of studies may be registered as audit courses upon the permission of the teacher of the course of studies and the approval of the Dean of the Faculty which offers the course of studies. The student shall take part at least 80% of the

academic activities of the audit courses and is required to sit for examination. The credit hours for the audit courses shall not be calculated in the registration or the calculation of the Cumulative Grade Point Average. The grade obtained shall be recorded as M or TM. The student need not repeat the audit courses if he obtains TM grade.

## **Language Proficiency Courses**

- 7. (1) Students are required to register for the language proficiency courses and shall surpass the level set for such language proficiency courses during his Programme of Studies in the University as prescribed by the Senate.
- (2) Language proficiency courses which are required to be registered and the level which need to be met as set by the Senate shall be notified by the Registrar to the students.

# Registering Similar Courses of Studies at other Higher Learning Institution

8. Students may apply to register a course of studies which is similar or related to his Programme of Studies offered by other higher learning institutions which are recognized by the Senate. The application shall be made at least one semester before the course of studies is registered at the said higher learning institution. The application for the registration shall be made in the forms prescribed by the University and shall subject to the guideline of the credit hours stated in the Third Schedule.

## **Programme Register Code**

9. Students shall register courses of studies in the prescribed course of studies group. The registration of the course of studies which does not belong to the permitted group of course of studies shall not be accepted and shall not be given any grade and shall be deemed as audit courses only. Group of course of studies is prescribed by group code which starts with the following preceeding numbers:

#### Group Code (preceding number)

- 0 = Introduction Course
- 1 = Diploma Programme
- 2 = Diploma and Bachelor Programme
- 3 = Bachelor Programme
- 4 = Bachelor and Advanced Degree Programme
- 5 = Master and Ph.D Programme
- 6 = Ph.D. Programme

# **Exemption of Course of Studies**

- 10. (1) Application for the exemption of course of studies shall be made to the Dean of the Faculty of the student at the beginning of the first semester of his studies in the University by submitting the form prescribed by the Registrar. Exemption shall only be considered for the course of studies which is similar and passed, or equivalent course of studies which is passed with a minimum grade of C+. The total maximum exemption shall not exceed:
  - (a) 30% of the total graduating credit hours for a particular enrolled Programme of Studies from a Diploma to Bachelor Programme;
  - (b) 50% of the total graduating credit hours for the exchange programme from other higher learning institution on the same level of studies;
- (2) For exchange of programme at the Universiti on the same level of studies, the Dean receiving the student shall determine the total credit hours which may be exempted.
- (3) All application for exemption for course of studies shall be resolved latest by the second week of the first studies semester of the student.

- (4) The exemption shall be based on a course by course of studies which the student has passed, and not on the overall Programme of Studies. Exemption for course of studies shall only be allowed only once for the whole his Programme of Studies.
- (5) A course which has been exempted shall not be re-registered by the student for the purpose of improving his cumulative grade point average. The student is only allowed to re-register the course as an audit course.

#### **Third Schedule**

## (Rule 25 and 26)

[Credit hours and classification of students]

#### **Credit Hours for Full Time Status**

1. Full time student is a student who registers as least 12 credit hours and above every semester.

# **Credit Hours Less than 12**

- 2. Only the following student may register less than 12 credit hours:
  - (a) student classified as Senior at his final semester for the purpose of graduation;
  - (b) student who has not enrolled a course in the form of practicum e.g. industrial training or teaching training but is required to repeat a final year project or any courses;
  - (c) student who has enrolled a course in the form of practicum e.g. industrial training or teaching training and is required to register for a final year project.

# **Classification of Students**

3. (1) Students at bacheclor's level shall be classified as follows:

0 - 30 credit hours	Freshman
31 - 60 credit hours	Sophomore
61 - 90 credit hours	Junior
91 - credit hours or above	Senior

(2) Students at diploma's level shall be classified as follows:

0 - 30 credit hours	Early
31 - 60 credit hours	Middle
61 - credit hours or above	Final

# **Credit Transfer and Course Exemption**

4. Any student who registers to enrol course of studies at higher learning institution within or outside Malaysia allowed by the University for the purpose of credit transfer to the University shall ensure that the total credit hours registered at the higher learning institution is not exceeding 30% of the requirement of the credit hours of his programme of studies.

#### Forth Schedule

## (Rule 43)

## [Time table]

## **Lecture Hours**

- 1. (1) Period of lecture for general lectures is limited to 1 hour per lecture.
  - (2) Lectures shall start at the appointed time and end 10 minutes earlier before the next lecture.
  - (3) Lectures on Friday afternoon shall start at 3.00pm.

#### Time table

- 2.(1) Time table for lecture is built for the purpose of planning examination schedule and the time table is based on time combinations.
- (2) For courses which are not part of any time combination or courses with various lecture groups, practicum or any other similar course shall be included in the group "to be arranged later" (TBA).

#### **Time Table Combination**

3. (1) The combination according to credit hours are as follows:

Day	8.00	9.00	10.00	11.00	12.00	1.00	2.00	3.00	4.00	5.00	6.00
Time	9.00	10.00	11.00	12.00	1.00	2.00	3.00	4.00	5.00	6.00	7.00
Monday	333	333	333	333	22	22	333	333	333	eee	eee
Tuesday	22	244	244	244	22	22	333	333	333	eee	rrr
Wednesda y	333	333	333	333	22	22	333	333	333	rrr	rrr
Thursday	22	244	244	244	22	22	333	333	333	jjj	jjj
Friday	333	333	333	333	22	22	333	333	333	jjj	

- (2) Generally, time combination in accordance to credit hours is planned for three credit hours which will be held on Monday, Wednesday and Friday for one hour per lecture (IRJ-1).
- (3) However, there is time combination for three credit hours which is split into two hours per lecture on Tuesday and Thursday afternoon.
- (4) For University courses, two hours at 5.00 pm until 7.00 pm everyday is planned in accordance with the prescribed combination (eee, rrr dan jjj).

# **Combination According to Time and Day**

4. Combination according to time and day are as follows:-

TIME COMBINATION SCHE	JIII E	EXAMINATION GROUP
LECTURE HOURS	JOLE	SCHEDULE
LECTORE HOURS		SCHEDOLL
COURSE CREDITS		
(3+0) OR (3+1)		
IRJ 08 – 09		1
IRJ 09 – 10		2
IRJ 10 – 11		3
IRJ 11 – 12		4
IRJ 02 – 03		5
IRJ 03 – 04		6
IRJ 04 – 05		7
COURSE CREDITS	COURSE CREDITS	
(2+0) OR (2+1)	(3+0) OR (3+1)	
105 – 07	105 - 07 , S 05 – 06	8
R 05 – 07	S 06 - 07 , R05 – 07	9
K 05 – 07	K 05 - 07 , J05 – 06	10
SS02 – 04	S 02 - 04 , K04 – 05	11
K 02 – 04	S 04 - 05 , K02 – 04	12
COURSE CREDITS	COURSE CREDITS	
(2+0) OR (2+1)	(4+0) /(3+0)/(3+1)	
SK 08 – 09	[SK 08 – 10] / [S8-10,K8/9] / [K8-10,S8/9]	13
SK 09 – 10	[SK 09 – 11] / [S9-11,K10/11] / [K9-11,S9/10]	14
SK 10 – 11	[SK 10 - 12] / [S10-12,K10/11] / [K10-	15
	12,S10/11]	
SK 11 – 12		16
IR 12 - 01	IRJ 12 – 01	17
SK 12 - 01 ATAU	[SK 12 – 02] / [S12-2,K12/1] / [K12-2,S12/1]	18
S 12 - 02 IR 01-02		
IR 01 – 02	IRJ 01-02	19
SK 01 – 02		20

# Explanation

5. Explanation for paragraph 4 are as follows:-

No.	Credit	Time Combination	Day	Time
1	2	SK 8	Tuesday and Thursday	8.00am-9.00am
2	3	IRJ 9	Monday, Wednesday and Friday	9.00am-10.00am
3	3	S2-4, K4	Tuesday and Thursday	2.00pm-4.00pm 4.00pm-5.00pm
4	3	I 5-7, S 5	Monday and Tuesday	5.00pm-7.00pm 5.00pm-6.00pm
5	4	SK 10-12	Tuesday and Thursday	10.00am-12.00pm

# **Examination Schedule**

6. Normally, Examination Schedule shal follow the following arrangement:-

WEEK	DAY	TIME	· · · · · · =					
		8.30am-10.30am	11.00am-1.00pm	2.00pm-4.00pm	5.00pm-7.00pm			
	MONDAY	SKP2101						
F	TUESDAY	SKP2201						
R S	WEDNESDAY	11	PRT2008	5	BBI2409			
T	THURSDAY	SKP2202	L		BBI 2412			
	FRIDAY	16		MTH 3003				
	SATURDAY	3	19	MGM 2111	BBM 2405			
	SUNDAY							
WEEK	DAY	TIME	1		1			
		8.30am-10.30am	11.00am-1.00pm	2.00pm-4.00pm	5.00pm-7.00pm			
	MONDAY	9	SAK 3002	PRT2008	BBI 2410			
	TUESDAY	7	PRT 2008	PRT 2008	BBA 2401			
S E C O N D	WEDNESDAY	PRT 2008	20	12	BBI 2414			
	THURSDAY	8	PRT 2008	13	EDU 3616			
	FRIDAY	PRT 2008		ACT 2112	BBC 2401			
	SATURDAY	10	18	PRT 2008	KOM 2231			
	SUNDAY							
WEEK	DAY	TIME	<u> </u>	1				
		8.30am-10.30am	11.00am-1.00pm	2.00pm-4.00pm	5.00pm-7.00pm			
	MONDAY	2	PRT 2008	1	EDU 3617			
T	TUESDAY	PRT 2008	PRT 2008	PRT 2008	BBI 2411			
H	WEDNESDAY	14	PRT 2008	6	MGM 3351			
R D	THURSDAY	4	PRT 2008	17	SAK 3100			
	FRIDAY	PRT 2008		PRT 2008	MGM 4104			
	SATURDAY	15	PRT 2008	PRT 2008				
	SUNDAY							

#### **Examination Time**

- 7. (1) Assessment or test shall be held during lecture hours, and final examination shall be held at the appointed time and generally is limited to two hours, except for the Programme of Studies which need to comply to the professional accreditation bodies or to a certain Programme of Studies prescribed by the Senate, the examination time is limited to three hours.
- (2) Deputy Vice Chancellor charged with the responsibility of academic matters of the University may give exemption for the assessment or test which is exceeding two hours or three hours, as the case may be.
- (3) For the avoidance of doubt, "lecture hours" means a period between 8.00am until 10.00pm.

#### **Examination Venue**

8. Venue of lectures shall also be venue of examination for certain courses. In some situations, examination venue shall be arranged at other places.

# Fifth Schedule (Rule 59)

[Cumulative Grade Point Average]

# **Grade and Grade Point**

1.	(1)	Genera	ally,	every	Programm	e of	Studies	in	the	University	shall	be
asses	ssed	and given	grac	le and	grade point	in a	ccordance	e w	ith th	is Schedule	Э.	

(2) A de	eficit point	shall be	calculated	as follows:
----------	--------------	----------	------------	-------------

Deficit point = 2 (total cumulative credit hours taken) - (total cumulative value point obtained)

(3) Average Grade Point shall be calculated as follows:-

(5) Marking scheme, alphabetical grades and grade points must be in accordance with the list below:-

Marks	Alphabetical Grades	Grade Point
80 - 100	Α	4.000
75 - 79	A-	3.750
70 - 74	B+	3.500
65 - 69	В	3.000

60 - 64	B-	2.750
55 - 59	C+	2.500
50 - 54	С	2.000
47 - 49	C-	1.750
44 - 46	D+	1.500
40 - 43	D	1.000
39 or less	F	0

- (6) The determination of the alphabetical grade shall be based on the mark obtained by a particular course.
- (7) The calculation of grade point shall be based on alphabetical grade obtained by a particular course, and the total credit hours of the said course.
- (8) Each alphabet used to state the assessed grade of a student and use in the transcript to indicate the standing of the student in a particular course shall follow the symbol and the explanation below:

Grade/Symbol	Explanation
А	Excellent
A-	Very good
B+	Very good
В	Good
B-	Good
C+	Satisfactory
С	Satisfactory
C-	Weak

D+ Weak

D Very weak

F Fail

TL Incomplete.

This symbol indicates that a student is unable to meet part of the requirement of a course in the form of practicum such as industrial training or teaching training. The student shall be given a time until the end of the second week of the following semester to complete the course to get a full assessment and grade.

AU Audit.

This symbol indicates that a student registered, attended and sat for the examination for the course.

M Satisfactory.

This symbol indicates that a course enrolled by the student is not being graded but the student receives a pass remark.

TM Unsatisfactory.

This symbol indicates that a course enrolled by the student, including an audit course, is not being graded but the student receives a fail remark.

TD Withdraw.

This symbol indicates that a student withdraw himself from a course of studies with the permission and approval of the Dean of the Faculty which offered the course of studies after the third weeks but before the seventh week. The withdrawal within the first three weeks of the semester may be permitted with the consent of the Academic Adviser of the student without any recorded alphabetical symbol or grade.

#### S Continue.

This symbol indicates that a coursework or project exceeds one semester to be completed. Coursework or project which is given the "S" symbol is not given a grade point but the credit hours for the coursework or project is only calculated for the determination of the minimum credit hours and not for the requirement of a graduation. Credit hours and grade point for the coursework and project shall only be calculated for the purpose of calculation of the total credit hours for a graduation and average grade point once the "S" symbol is replaced by alphabetical grade.

- (9) Subject to rule 1(2) and (3) of this Rules, for Programme of Studies of Medical Doctor, marking scheme and alphabetical grade must be in accordance with the list below:-
  - (a) Marking scheme and grading for all Phases and Professional Examination shall be as follows:-

Marks	Alphabetical Grade
80-100	Α
75-79	A-
70-74	B+
65-69	В
60-64	B-

55-59	C+
50-54	С
0-49	F (fail)

- (b) Passing mark for the prescribed course of studies which is offered by the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences in programme of Medical Doctor is 50%. Students who obtain marks between 45 49% may improve the marks to a maximum of 50% by way of sitting for the oral examination. If the students have sat the oral examination, but fail to improve the mark to 50%, the students shall repeat the course.
- (10) For Programme of Studies of Doctor of Veterinary Medicine, marking scheme, alphabetical grade and grade point must be in accordance with the list below:-

<u>Marks</u>	Alphabetical Grade	Grade Value Point	<b>Explanation</b>
80 - 100	Α	4.000	Very Excellent
75 - 79	A-	3.750	Excellent
70 - 74	B+	3.500	Extremely Good
65 - 69	В	3.000	Very Good
60 - 64	B-	2.750	Good
55 - 59	C+	2.500	Very Satisfactory
50 - 54	С	2.000	Satisfactory
49 or less	F	0	Fail

(11) For Programme of Studies of Bachelor of Engineering, marking scheme, alphabetical grade and grade point must be in accordance with the list below:-

<u>Marks</u>	Alphabetical Grade	Grade Point	<u>Explanation</u>
80 - 100	Α	4.000	Very Excellent
75 - 79	A-	3.750	Excellent
70 - 74	B+	3.500	Extremely Good

65 - 69	В	3.000	Very Good
60 - 64	B-	2.750	Good
55 - 59	C+	2.500	Very Satisfactory
50 - 54	С	2.000	Satisfactory
49 or less	F	0	Fail

(12) For core course offered in the Programme of Studies of Bachelor of Design (Architectural) and Bacelor of Science Architecture, marking scheme, alphabetical grade and value point must be in accordance with the list below:-

<u>Marks</u>	Alphabetical Grade	Grade Point	<b>Explanation</b>
80 - 100	Α	4.000	Very Excellent
75 - 79	A-	3.750	Excellent
70 - 74	B+	3.500	Extremely Good
65 - 69	В	3.000	Very Good
60 - 64	B-	2.750	Good
55 - 59	C+	2.500	Very Satisfactory
50 - 54	С	2.000	Satisfactory
49 or less	C-	0	Fail

#### Sixth Schedule

#### (Rule 60 and 61(k))

#### [Senate Review Committee]

- 1. (1) It is hereby established the Senate Review Committee which consists of:-
  - (a) Deputy Vice Chancellor charged with the responsibility of academic matters of the University as the Chairman, or his representatives from among members of Senate authorised in writing by him;
  - (b) Dean of the Faculty of the course or studies registered by the student who request for the grade review;
  - (c) Four members of Senate appointed by the Senate;
  - (d) Registar or his representative as Secretary.
  - (2) The Committee shall have the following powers:-
    - (a) to consider all application for the review of grade;
    - (b) to make a final decision on all application for the review of grade under its consideration;
    - (c) to report its decision on all application for the review of grade under its consideration for the endorsement of the Senate;
    - (d) to direct any academic officer to appear before the committee to assist the committee in making its decision.
    - (3) Quorum for a meeting is the chairman and two members.

- 2. A student who obtains the status of "fail and terminated" on the reason of failure to meet the conditions to pursue his Programme of Studies may submit the application to review the examination result in accordance with the following procedures:-
  - (a) each application for the grade review shall be submitted to the Registrar within two weeks after the result of the examination is announced by the Registrar; and
  - (b) each application for the grade review shall be accompanied by a payment of fee amounting to RM50.00;
- 3. Each application for the grade review which is received by the Registrar shall be forwarded, as soon as practical, within the third week after the beginning of a semester, to the Senate Review Committee for its consideration.
- 4. Senate Review Committee shall, upon receiving the application for the grade review shall meet and make its decision latest by the end of the third week after the beginning of a semester.

# **Seventh Schedule**

# (Rule 68)

# [Classes of Degrees]

1. Degrees at the bachelor level conferred by the Senate are classified as follows:-

Degree	Cumulative Grade Point	Classes of Degrees
	Average	
All bachelor degrees except	3.750 – 4.000	First Class Honours
for the Medical Doctors and		
Doctors of Veterinary	3.000 - 3.749	Second Class Upper Honours
Medicine	2.250 – 2.999	Second Class Lower Honours
	2.000 – 2.249	Third Class Honours

2. Subject to rule 1(2) and (3) in this Rules, the degree for medical doctors is classified as follows:-

Degree	Classes of Degree
Degree for Medical Doctors	Pass

3. The degree of Doctors of Veterinary Medicine is classified as follows:-

Degree				Cumulative Grade Point	Classes of Degree
				Average	
Degree	of	Doctors	of	2.000 - 4.000	Pass
Veterinar	у Ме	dicine			

